RECEIVED 02-08-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

Case No. 2020AP2003

WISCONSIN JUSTICE INITIATIVE, INC., a Wisconsin nonstock corporation, JACQUELINE E. BOYNTON, JEROME F. BUTING, CRAIG R. JOHNSON and FRED A. RISSER,

Plaintiffs-Respondents,

v.

WISCONSIN ELECTIONS
COMMISSION, ANN S. JACOBS,
in her official capacity as Chair of
the Wisconsin Elections Commission,
DOUGLAS LA FOLLETTE, in his
official capacity as Secretary of
State of Wisconsin and JOSH KAUL,
in his official capacity as
Attorney General of Wisconsin,

Defendants-Appellants.

INTRODUCTION

In May 2019, after two years of public debate and with bipartisan support, the Wisconsin Legislature passed a joint resolution placing a proposed constitutional amendment on the ballot for the April 7, 2020, election. The proposed amendment (the "Amendment"), commonly known as Marsy's Law, proposed changes to Wis. Const. art. I, § 9m, Wisconsin's constitutional provision for crime victims' rights. The Amendment proposed giving victims new constitutional rights and strengthening protection of victims' rights. Pursuant to constitutional and statutory obligations, the Legislature's joint resolution included the question to be placed on the ballot—the question that served to identify the amendment to be voted upon. At the election, Wisconsin voters overwhelmingly ratified the Amendment and it became part of the Wisconsin Constitution.

This case concerns the legal sufficiency of the referendum question that appeared on the ballot. (R. 25:3, A-App. 142, the "Ballot Question.") The circuit court ruled that the Ballot Question was constitutionally deficient. It concluded that the Ballot Question lacked essential elements, was misleading, and needed to be presented as multiple questions, because—in the court's view—it did not meaningfully confront the effects the Amendment could have on defendants' rights. It then "enjoined" the Amendment but stayed its order pending appeal. This Court should reverse.

A court's review of a ballot question, though de novo, is narrowly confined to whether the Legislature acted reasonably and within its discretion. A court's role is to determine whether the ballot question was so detached from the amendment itself that it fell outside the Legislature's broad constitutional authority to choose how to present the question to the people. Only if the question failed to present the real question, or presented an entirely different question,

may a court conclude that the Legislature acted unreasonably.

Here, the Legislature's Ballot Question passes constitutional muster because it concisely communicated that the Amendment would (1) give crime victims additional rights, (2) strengthen the protection of victims' rights, but (3) leave defendants' federal constitutional rights intact. This is a proper reflection of the Amendment's text, and therefore falls squarely within the Legislature's broad discretion.

Although this Court owes no deference to the circuit court's decision, its reasoning was incorrect in at least two critical respects. First and fundamentally, the court used the wrong test. Wisconsin law does not require that a ballot question provide information about possible legal or policy implications of a proposed amendment; instead, what is required is a concise summary. Second, the court improperly rested its analysis on possible legal effects of the Amendment. Neither the circuit court nor the Plaintiffs have identified any concrete effect this Amendment will have on the rights of the accused. The circuit court's conclusions are speculative at best, and mistaken at worst. The court erroneously concluded that the omission of possible impacts rendered the Ballot Question incomplete and further required a separate question.

Indeed, the circuit court's analysis conflated the Ballot Question's sufficiency with the legal and policy merits of the Amendment itself. But our supreme court has made clear that the political wisdom or legal merits of the Amendment are not relevant in a ballot question challenge. Instead, the Amendment's effects must be litigated in concrete disputes by a party who demonstrates an actual injury.

The circuit court's decision also raises troubling implications regarding separation of powers. The Legislature has discretion in prescribing the manner in which proposed

amendments are presented to the people. And our system expects the voters to independently educate themselves on the legal and policy implications of an Amendment—that is not the work of the ballot question. Given the importance of deferring to the Legislature and respecting the will of the people, it is no surprise that—before the circuit court's decision here—a constitutional amendment ballot question has only been invalidated *one* time in Wisconsin history. The circuit court did not properly defer to the Legislature, and instead assigned the Ballot Question a far heavier burden than it had to carry.

The Ballot Question was a proper exercise of the Legislature's constitutional discretion because it fairly presented the real question to the voters in a concise summary of the Amendment. Further, it was proper to submit this Amendment as a single amendment because all aspects were designed to accomplish a single overall purpose. This Court should reverse the circuit court and hold that the Legislature acted within its broad discretion.

ISSUES PRESENTED

Whether the Ballot Question constituted a proper exercise of the Legislature's discretion under Wis. Const. art. XII, § 1 because it met all requirements as to the necessary content and form to present the real question to the voters, namely, a concise summary that reasonably references every essential element of the Amendment.

The circuit court answered no.

This Court should answer yes.

2. Whether the Legislature properly exercised its discretion under Wis. Const. art. XII, § 1 to present the Amendment to the voters as a single amendment in a single ballot question.

The circuit court answered no.

This Court should answer yes.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is not necessary because the briefs, taken together, will adequately present the issues on appeal.

Publication is warranted to further clarify the proper standard to assess the sufficiency of a ballot question. Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1)(a)1. Further, this case is "of substantial and continuing public interest." Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1)(a)5.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Factual background.

A. The parties.

Plaintiff-Respondent Wisconsin Justice Initiative is an organization committed to advancing, among other things, defendants' rights. (R. 7:1–2 ¶¶ 1–3.) Plaintiffs-Respondents Jacqueline E. Boynton, Craig R. Johnson, Jerome F. Buting, and former State Senator Fred Risser are Wisconsin residents who oppose the Amendment. (R. 1:5 ¶¶ 2–5; R. 4; 6; 8.) Defendant-Appellant Wisconsin Elections Commission (WEC) administers the State's elections. (R. 19:2 ¶ 4.) The other Defendants-Appellants are Ann S. Jacobs, WEC's chairperson; Secretary of State Douglas La Follette; and Attorney General Josh Kaul. (R. 1:5 ¶¶ 7–9.)

B. The Amendment.

Wisconsin was one of the first states to pass a Crime Victims' Bill of Rights, and historically has had some of the strongest victims' rights. *See* Wis. Const. art. I, § 9m (2017–18) (created April 1993); *see generally* Wis. Stat. ch. 950. In 2017 and 2019, the proposed "Marsy's Law" constitutional amendment was introduced in the Legislature. (*See* R. 24; 25, A-App. 140–42; R. 1:10 ¶¶ 28, 31.)

The Amendment enhances the prior version of article I, section 9m by giving victims new rights and strengthening the protections of existing rights. The prior version read as follows:

This state shall treat crime victims, as defined by law, with fairness, dignity and respect for their privacy. This state shall ensure that crime victims have all of the following privileges and protections as provided by law: timely disposition of the case; the opportunity to attend court proceedings unless the trial court finds sequestration is necessary to a fair trial for the defendant; reasonable protection from the accused throughout the criminal justice process; notification of court proceedings: the opportunity to confer with the prosecution; the opportunity to make a statement to the court at disposition; restitution; compensation; and information about the outcome of the case and the release of the accused. The legislature shall provide remedies for the violation of this section. Nothing in this section, or in any statute enacted pursuant to this section, shall limit any right of the accused which may be provided by law.

Wis. Const. art. I, § 9m (2017–18), (A-App. 145).

The Amendment revised and added to this language; it divided article I, section 9m into the following six sections:¹

Section 9m(1) now provides a definition for "victim" that is similar to the longstanding statutory definition in Wis. Stat. § 950.02(4). It provides that "victim," in certain circumstances, may include persons beyond the person against whom a crime was committed.

The introductory language of section 9m(2) contains a purpose statement: "to preserve and protect victims' rights to

¹ For a complete blackline of the changes made by the Amendment, (see R. 25, A-App. 140–42). Defendants-Appellants have also provided in their appendix clean copies of article I, section 9m before and after the Amendment took effect. (A-App. 143–45.)

justice and due process throughout the criminal and juvenile justice process." Under section 9m(2), victims shall be entitled to the enumerated rights, which "shall vest at the time of victimization and be protected by law in a manner no less vigorous than the protections afforded to the accused." *Id.*

Many of the enumerated rights added through the Amendment echo the prior version of section 9m, or similar provisions in previously existing Wisconsin law:

- a. To be treated with dignity, respect, courtesy, sensitivity, and fairness.[2]
 - b. To privacy.[3]
 - c. To proceedings free from unreasonable delay.[4]
- d. To timely disposition of the case, free from unreasonable delay.^[5]
- e. Upon request, to attend all proceedings involving the case.[6]

² See Wis. Const. art. I, § 9m (2017–18) and Wis. Stat. § 950.04(1v)(ag) (requiring that crime victims were treated "with fairness, dignity and respect" for their privacy).

 $^{^3}$ Id.

⁴ See Wis. Const. art. I, § 9m (2017–18) (ensuring victims had "timely disposition of the case"); Wis. Stat. § 950.04(1v)(ar), (k) (the right to "a speedy disposition of the case").

⁵ *Id*.

⁶ See Wis. Const. art. I, § 9m (2017–18) (victims had "the opportunity to attend court proceedings"); Wis. Stat. § 950.04(1v)(b) (victims' right to "attend court proceedings in the case"); see also Wis. Stat. § 950.04(1v)(em), (nn), (nt), (nx).

- f. To reasonable protection from the accused throughout the criminal and juvenile justice process.^[7]
- g. Upon request, to reasonable and timely notification of proceedings.[8]
- h. Upon request, to confer with the attorney for the government.[9]
- i. Upon request, to be heard in any proceeding during which a right of the victim is implicated, including release, plea, sentencing, disposition, parole, revocation, expungement, or pardon. [10]
- j. To have information pertaining to the economic, physical, and psychological effect upon the victim of the offense submitted to the authority with

⁷ See Wis. Const. art. I, § 9m (2017–18) (ensuring victims had "reasonable protection from the accused throughout the criminal justice process"); Wis. Stat. §§ 950.04(1v)(e), 967.10(2), 938.2965(2) (victims' right to a waiting area or minimal contact with the accused).

⁸ See Wis. Const. art. I, § 9m (2017–18) (ensuring that victims had "notification of court proceedings"); Wis. Stat. § 950.04(1v)(g) (reasonable attempts are made "to notify the victim of hearings or court proceedings"); Wis. Stat. § 950.04(1v)(f), (gm), (vm), (vm) (victims' right to notification or reasonable attempts at notification).

⁹ See Wis. Const. art. I, § 9m (2017-18) (victims had "the opportunity to confer with the prosecution"); Wis. Stat. § 950.04(1v)(i) (victims shall have opportunity to consult with intake workers, district attorneys, and corporation counsel in juvenile cases); see also Wis. Stat. § 950.04(1v)(j) (right to "the opportunity to consult with the prosecution").

¹⁰ See Wis. Stat. § 950.105 (victims' right to assert "his or her rights as a crime victim" in a court in the county in which the alleged violation occurred).

Page 16 of 48

jurisdiction over the case and to have that information considered by that authority.[11]

- k. Upon request, to timely notice of any release or escape of the accused or death of the accused if the accused is in custody or on supervision at the time of death.[12]
- 1. To refuse an interview, deposition, or other discovery request made by the accused or any person acting on behalf of the accused.[13]
- m. To full restitution from any person who has been ordered to pay restitution to the victim and to be provided with assistance collecting restitution.[14]

¹¹ See Wis. Const. art. I, § 9m (2017–18) (victims had "the opportunity to make a statement to the court at disposition"); Wis. Stat. § 950.04(1v)(pm) (victims' right to "have the court provided with information pertaining to the economic, physical and psychological effect of the crime upon the victim").

¹² See Wis. Const. art. I, § 9m (2017–18) (ensuring that victims had "information about . . . the release of the accused"); Wis. Stat. § 950.04(1v)(um), (v), (vg), (w), (x), (xm) (victims' right to have district attorneys and relevant state agencies make "a reasonable attempt to notify the victim" regarding conditional releases, community confinements, parole revocation, release to supervision, etc.).

¹³ See Wis. Stat. § 950.04(1v)(er) (victims' right to "not be compelled to submit to a pretrial interview or deposition by a defendant or his or her attorney"); Wis. Stat. § 971.23(6c) ("Except as provided in s. 967.04, the defendant or his or her attorney may not compel a victim of a crime to submit to a pretrial interview or deposition.").

¹⁴ See Wis. Const. art. I, § 9m (2017–18) (ensuring victims' right to "restitution"); Wis. Stat. § 950.04(1v)(q) (victims' right to "restitution"); and Wis. Stat. § 950.04(1v)(r) (victims' right to "a judgment for unpaid restitution").

- n. To compensation as provided by law.[15]
- o. Upon request, to reasonable and timely information about status of the investigation and the outcome of the case.^[16]
- p. To timely notice about all rights upon this section and all other rights, privileges, or protections of the victim provided by law, including how such rights, privileges, or protections are enforced.^[17]

Wis. Const. art. I, $\S 9m(2)(a)$ –(p).

Section 9m(3) states that, except as provided under subsection (2)(n), all provisions of this section are self-executing, but the Legislature may prescribe further remedies for violations and procedures for enforcement.¹⁸

Section 9m(4) explains that victims may assert their rights in court, and may obtain review of adverse decisions

¹⁵ See Wis. Const. art. I, § 9m (2017–18) (ensuring that victims received "compensation"); Wis. Stat. § 950.04(1v)(rm) (victims' right to "compensation").

¹⁶ See Wis. Const. art. I, § 9m (2017–18) (ensuring that victims had "information about the outcome of the case"); Wis. Stat. § 950.04(1v)(y) (victims' right to "reasonable attempts made to notify the victim concerning actions taken in a juvenile proceeding"); Wis. Stat. § 950.04(1v)(zm) (victims' right to "request information from a district attorney concerning the disposition of a case").

¹⁷ See Wis. Stat. § 950.04(1v)(t) (victims' right to "receive information from law enforcement agencies"); Wis. Stat. § 950.04(1v)(u) (victims' right to "receive information from district attorneys"); Wis. Stat. § 950.04(1v)(y) (victims' right to "reasonable attempts made to notify the victim concerning actions taken in a juvenile proceeding"); Wis. Stat. § 950.08(2) (the Wisconsin Department of Justice shall inform crime victims about their rights and victim services).

¹⁸ See Wis. Const. art. I, § 9m (2017–18) ("The legislature shall provide remedies for the violation of this section.").

concerning their rights; it also provides that courts should act promptly and provide a remedy for a violation of a victim's right.¹⁹

Section 9m(5) clarifies that an action for money damages may not be brought against the state or state actors.

Lastly, section 9m(6) provides that article I, section 9m is "not intended and may not be interpreted to supersede a defendant's federal constitutional rights," and that it does not "afford party status in a proceeding to any victim."

C. The Legislature approved the Amendment and formulated the Ballot Question.

Wisconsin Const. art. XII, § 1 articulates the procedure that must be followed to amend the constitution. Each legislative house must agree by majority vote to adopt the proposal. Wis. Const. art. XII, § 1. In the next legislative session, each house must again agree by majority vote and submit the same proposal to the people for approval and ratification. *Id*.

Here, the Legislature first considered the Amendment in 2017. (R. 24.) It was approved by a bipartisan majority vote in both houses and became 2017 Enrolled Joint Resolution 13. (R. 24.)

The 2019 Legislature also considered the Amendment, set forth in 2019 Senate Joint Resolution 2. (R. 25, A-App. 140–42; R. 26; 27.) In May 2019, both houses of the Legislature agreed by majority vote to approve the Amendment's second consideration, which became 2019 Enrolled Joint Resolution 3.20 The joint resolution

¹⁹ See Wis. Const. art. I, § 9m (2017–18) (requiring that the Legislature provided remedies for violation of victims' rights); Wis. Stat. § 950.105 (victims' right to assert "his or her rights" in a court in the county in which the alleged violation occurred).

²⁰ See History for Senate Joint Resolution 2, https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/2019/proposals/sjr2.

specified that the Amendment would be submitted to a vote of the people at the April 2020 election. (R. 25:2, A-App. 141.)

The joint resolution further directed that the question concerning ratification be stated on the ballot as:

QUESTION 1: "Additional rights of crime victims. Shall section 9m of article I of the constitution, which gives certain rights to crime victims, be amended to give crime victims additional rights, to require that the rights of crime victims be protected with equal force to the protections afforded the accused while leaving the federal constitutional rights of the accused intact, and to allow crime victims to enforce their rights in court?"

(R. 25:3, A-App. 142.)

D. Informing the electorate about the Amendment and submitting the Ballot Question for vote.

As directed by the Legislature, the Amendment was submitted to a vote at the April 7, 2020, election. (R. 19:3 \P 7.) This triggered statutory duties for the WEC and municipal clerks. (R. 19:3 \P 7.)

Relevant here, after WEC certified the referendum question, municipal clerks had to prepare and publish three types of notices to inform voters about the Amendment. The Type A notice provided the Ballot Question and information on where a copy of the Amendment's entire text could be obtained. Wis. Stat. §§ 10.01(2)(a), 10.06(2)(f); (R. 19:4–5 ¶ 12; R. 20.) The Type B notice provided sample ballots and voting instructions. Wis. Stat. § 10.01(2)(b); (R. 19:5 ¶ 14; R. 21.) The Type C notice included the full text of the Amendment; it also included an explanatory statement explaining the effects of a "yes" or "no" vote, prepared by the Attorney General. Wis. Stat. § 10.01(2)(c); (R. 19:5–6 ¶¶ 15–16.)

On April 7, 2020, Wisconsin voters approved and ratified the Amendment by a three-to-one margin. The election results were certified on May 4, 2020, and the Amendment became effective that day. See Wis. Stat. § 7.70(3)(h).

II. Procedural background.

Prior to the election, Plaintiffs filed a complaint, alleging that the Ballot Question violated Wis. Const. art. XII, § 1, because it did not sufficiently inform voters about the substance and ramifications of the Amendment. (R. 1:11–14.) They also claimed that the Ballot Question violated the separate amendment rule under Wis. Const. art. XII, § 1. (R. 1:14–17.) Plaintiffs moved for a temporary injunction to prevent the Amendment from appearing on the April 2020 ballot. (R. 2.)

The circuit court denied the temporary injunction motion, following a February 7, 2020, hearing. (R. 29; 47.) The court concluded that, among other things, Plaintiffs failed to show a substantial likelihood of success on the merits. (R. 47:75.) It also concluded "that there would be irreparable harm to the democratic process," and "significant disruption to the orderly administration of the spring election" if it issued the injunction. (R. 47:81.)

After the Amendment passed, Plaintiffs filed a motion for a declaratory judgment. They argued that the Ballot Question did not include every essential element of the Amendment, that the Ballot Question was misleading, and that the Amendment needed to be presented as multiple amendments. (See generally R. 35.) Following briefing, (see R. 36), the circuit court heard argument on August 13, 2020. (R. 38:2). It then requested supplemental briefing on whether the principles of severability apply to the

Amendment²¹, and what impact, if any, the *Service Employees International Union, Local 1 v. Vos*, 2020 WI 67, 393 Wis. 2d 38, 946 N.W.2d 35, decision had on this case. (R. 39–41; 48:24, 83.)

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