FILED 04-11-2022 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT**

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2020AP2003

WISCONSIN JUSTICE INITIATIVE, INC., a Wisconsin nonstock corporation, JACQUELINE E. BOYNTON, JEROME F. BUTING, CRAIG R. JOHNSON and FRED A. RISSER,

Plaintiffs-Respondents,

v.

WISCONSIN ELECTIONS COMMISSION, ANN S. JACOBS. in her official capacity as Chair of the Wisconsin Elections Commission, DOUGLAS LA FOLLETTE, in his official capacity as Secretary of State of Wisconsin and JOSH KAUL, in his official capacity as Attorney General of Wisconsin,

Defendants-Appellants.

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

It is also apparent from the cases that the strict "every essential" test for ballot questions on constitutional amendments is not applicable to ballot questions on municipal referenda questions or ballots on direct legislation of municipal ordinances. The court of appeals held in *Metropolitan Milwaukee Ass'n of Commerce Inc. v. City of Milwaukee*, 2011 WI App 45 ¶24, 332 Wis. 2d 459, 482, 798 N.W.2d 287, 299

(emphasis added), "only in the context of constitutional amendments has the supreme court adopted the 'every essential' standard." 1

Filed 04-11-2022

Nevertheless, citing *Metropolitan Milwaukee*, a municipal direct legislation case, Defendants argue that what the <u>constitutional</u> ballot question here needed to do is far more limited than what the "every essential" test requires – they claim it need only constitute a "brief statement of the general purpose." (See A-Brf. 26). They also assert what is required of a Ballot Question is that it "simply served to help voters identify the matter at hand." (A-Brf. 33). However, they fail to acknowledge that the requirements for ballot questions constitutional amendments are more strict than that. It is, after all, a Constitution that was being amended here, not a mere municipal ordinance. The Question here needed to do more than "help" voters to identify what they were voting on – it needed to refer them to every essential of the amendment, and to describe its contents accurately and without misleading.

In this regard, Defendants cite *Ekern*, 204 N.W. at 813, twice in their brief for the proposition that a reviewing court must uphold a ballot question even if its language or phrasing is not "entirely free from doubt." (A-Brf. 23, 39). In fact, only one page earlier in the opinion, the Ekern Court stated the actual standard on avoiding doubtful language in a ballot question: "The question submitted on the ballot has heretofore been quoted. It is clear and unambiguous, so as to enable voters to vote intelligently." Ekern, 204 N.W. at 812. That case involved a constitutional amendment ballot question that had been drafted by the Secretary of State <u>rather than by the Legislature itself</u>. It is clear from the Court's opinion that the "question" being referred to that was not entirely free from doubt was not the ballot question itself but whether the drafting of the ballot question by an entity other than the Legislature was grounds for invalidating the amendment. The Court ruled that this was not a ground for rejecting the amendment, and that the clear and unambiguous language in the ballot question was

¹ As a result, municipal referendum cases can be of little assistance here.

sufficient for the amendment to have been validly enacted, regardless of who drafted it.²

II. More than one Question was required to submit the 2020 amendments to the voters because the amendments were not limited to one subject.

The Wisconsin Constitution specifies "that if more than one amendment be submitted, they shall be submitted in such manner that the people may vote for or against such amendments separately." Wis. Const. art. XII, § 1. This is known as the separate-amendment rule. In 1882, this Court explained the separate-amendment rule as follows:

In order to constitute more than one amendment, the propositions submitted must relate to more than one subject, and have at least two distinct and separate purposes not dependent upon or connected with each other.

Hudd, 11 N.W. at 791. The rule "does not prohibit a single constitutional amendment from being complex or multifaceted, or from containing a variety of specific prescriptions and proscriptions." $McConkey\ v.\ Van\ Hollen$, 2010 WI 57, ¶ 26, 326 Wis. 2d 1, 783 N.W.2d 855.

The separate-amendment test is as follows: "It is within the discretion of the legislature to submit several distinct propositions as one amendment if they relate to the same subject matter and are designed to accomplish one general purpose." Id. ¶ 41 (quoting Milwaukee Alliance. v. Elections Bd., 106 Wis. 2d 593, 604–05, 317 N.W. 2d 420 (1982)). "[A]ll of the propositions must 'tend to effect or carry out' the [amendment's] purpose." Id. (quoting State ex rel. Thomson v. Zimmerman, 264 Wis. 644, 656, 60 N.W. 2d 416 (1953)). In other words, if all propositions are dependent upon, or connected with, the amendment's overall purpose, the Legislature may submit them as a single proposed amendment. Id. ¶ 42.

² Defendants' error in citing that language in *Ekern* for their proposed standard was pointed out by Plaintiffs in the circuit court, and again in the court of appeals, but they continue to press the mistaken point here. (See R. 37:3, R-Ct App. Brf. 5-6).

Here, the title and text of the Ballot Question, and the common name for the amendments, "Marsy's Law," all indicate to voters that the <u>purpose</u> of the amendments was to increase and expand the rights of crime victims.

In *Milwaukee Alliance*, a single amendment was proposed to revise the existing right to bail to a concept of conditional release. 106 Wis. 2d at 600. The amendment authorized the Legislature to permit circuit courts to deny release on bail for a limited period to certain accused persons without requiring monetary conditions. *Id*. Challengers argued that the issues of conditional release and anti-monetary bail should have been submitted to the voters as separate questions. *Id*. at 607. The Court upheld use of a single ballot question, holding that the question presented "contained integral and related aspects of the amendment's total purpose." *Id*. at 608. The court further reasoned that a single amendment could cover several propositions, all tending to effect and carry out one general object or purpose, and all connected with one subject. *Id*.

Here, while the <u>overall purpose</u> of the Marsy's Law amendments was to increase and strengthen victims' rights, the <u>text</u> of the amendments also included striking existing provisions from the Wisconsin Constitution, specifically the words in section 9m of Article I underlined below, <u>that protected rights of the accused</u>:

Victims of crime. Section 9m. This state shall treat crime victims, as defined by law, with fairness, dignity and respect for their privacy. This state shall ensure that crime victims have all of the following privileges and protections as provided by law: timely disposition of the case; the opportunity to attend court proceedings unless the trial court finds sequestration is necessary to a fair trial for the defendant; reasonable protection from the accused throughout the criminal justice process; notification of court proceedings; the opportunity to confer with the prosecution; the opportunity to make a statement to the court at disposition; restitution; compensation; and information about the outcome of the case and the release of the accused. The legislature shall provide remedies for the violation of this section. Nothing in this section, or in any statute enacted pursuant to this section, shall limit any right of the accused which may be provided by law. (Emphasis supplied).

Wis. Const. art. I, § 9m (2019), (A-App. 167).

The circuit court correctly recognized that striking these provisions altered the rights of persons accused of crime in significant ways. Striking the first underlined provision deleted a defendant's right to have a victim witness sequestered and deleted the only reference in the state Constitution to a defendant's right to a "fair trial." Striking the final sentence from Section 9m did away with the 1993 constitutional language that prevented victims' rights from limiting any legal rights of the accused:

But now, with the repeal of the preexisting language, the inescapable conclusion is that presently crime victims have a State Constitutional right to attend all proceedings even if their removal from the courtroom is otherwise necessary for a fair trial for the defendant. (emphasis added)

(R. 42:13, A-App. 138). Striking the final sentence from § 9m as it had been enacted in 1993 altered the rights of the accused under the State Constitution:

It was generally understood that the constitutional language in the now repealed portion guided the court, at a minimum, to not allow the rights of crime victims to automatically supersede the rights of the accused, and at most, made clear that the court should protect and preserve the rights of the accused that were provided for and guaranteed by Wisconsin law.

(Id.)

The circuit court carefully considered the Wisconsin Supreme Court cases addressing the separate amendment rule, including *State ex rel. Thomson v. Zimmerman*, 264 Wis. 644, which is most pertinent here. (See R. 42:26-29, A-App. 129-132). In *Thomson*, the Court held that an amendment had not been validly enacted because 1) it encompassed at least three <u>distinct</u> subjects, necessitating as many ballot questions:

- allowing senate districts to be formed on the basis of area as well as population;
- including Indians and the military in the population to be counted; and
- changing which municipality boundaries could be used in forming assembly districts,

and also because 2) the question <u>misstated</u> what lines would be used in forming senate districts under the amendment.

Defendants argue here that changes to victims' Wisconsin constitutional rights (the "what"), changes to who is constitutionally defined as a victim (the "who"), changes to an accused's or defendant's constitutional rights (the "others"), and creation of a right of victims to obtain review and a remedy in the Wisconsin Supreme Court ("nondiscretionary Supreme Court review") are all sufficiently related to enable one ballot question to submit all of them to the voters. However, to the contrary, in *Thomson* even though all three sets of changes related to how legislative districts were to be formed, the Court held that the basis for establishing senate districts (a "what"), the change in who was to be counted in determining districts' population for districting (the "who"), and the boundaries to be followed for assembly districts (another "what") each required separate ballot questions.

Here, the circuit court properly recognized that "[s]ubtracting from defendants' rights is a fundamentally different subject and a fundamentally different purpose than adding to victims' rights." (R.42:13 n 6; A-App.138). And the court correctly ruled that at least two separate questions needed to be submitted to the voters:

If the Legislature wanted to expand the definition of a crime victim and to give crime victims greater rights and at the same time curtail the rights of persons only accused of committing a crime, it was required to frame the issues to elicit voter ratification by asking two separate questions. The two concepts are sufficiently distinct. They should be submitted to voters as separate questions. Conflating the separate questions of creating something new for crime victims and deleting something old for persons only accused of committing a crime was a mistake of constitutional proportions. It may be that in the end Wisconsin voters will ratify redefining "crime victim", increasing crime victim rights, and curtailing the rights of the accused. But having two separate and clearly worded questions is the only way to know for sure.

(R. 42:30, A-App. 155). In other words, voters were entitled to be asked not only whether they approved expanding victims' rights but separately

whether they approved changes that limited rights of the accused under the state Constitution.³

- III. The Ballot Question was inadequate for submitting these constitutional amendments to the voters because it failed to satisfy the "every essential" test, misstated the contents of the amendments, and was misleading.
 - A. The Ballot Question was inadequate because it failed to reference every essential element of the amendments.
 - 1. The Question failed to state that the constitutional definition of "victim" was being changed.

The Legislature certainly has discretion in determining the contents of a ballot question. Defendants argue here that that discretion is almost virtually unbounded. They urge that the only limitations on that discretion are "if the ballot question (1) 'failed to present the real question' or (2) 'presented an entirely different question." (A-Brf. 25).

However, Defendants' standard omits the requirement that the ballot question "must reasonably, intelligently, and fairly comprise or have reference to every essential of the amendment." *State ex rel. Thomson v. Zimmerman*, 264 Wis. 644, 60 N.W.2d 416, 423 (1953) (quoting *State ex rel. Ekern v. Zimmerman*, 187 Wis. 180, 204 N.W. 803 (1925)).

In *Thomson*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court addressed the consequences of putting a proposed constitutional amendment to the voters with an inadequate ballot question, and, quoting *Ekern*,

expanding crime victims' rights.

³ The circuit court rejected Plaintiffs' argument that changing the constitutional definition of crime victim required a third question and did not address the question of whether the amendments' change to Supreme Court jurisdiction required a fourth question. It continues to be Plaintiffs' position that providing victims a right to mandatory rather than discretionary review in the Supreme Court if they seek review of an appellate court ruling regarding any of their rights required a separate question. Creating a right to Supreme Court review is fundamentally distinct from

described the requirements for a valid amendment ballot question in greater detail as follows:

Filed 04-11-2022

Had the Legislature in the present case prescribed the form of submission in a manner which would have failed to present the real question, or had they, by error or mistake, presented an entirely different question, no claim could be made that the proposed amendment would have been validly enacted. In other words, even if the form is prescribed by the Legislature, it must reasonably, intelligently, and fairly comprise or have reference to every essential of the amendment...."[T]he principal and essential criterion consists in a submission of a question or a form which has for its object and purpose an intelligent and comprehensive submission to the people, so that the latter may be fully informed on the subject upon which they are required to exercise a franchise."

Id. (emphasis added).

Defendants completely ignore *Thomson* and *Ekern's* "in other words" explanation of the "every essential" standard – it requires a ballot question that reasonably, intelligently and fairly references every essential of the amendment so voters may be fully informed. This has been the standard in Wisconsin for 97 years and should remain so. It requires more of a ballot question than Defendants' standards demand.4

It was argued in *Thomson*, in support of the validity of the amendment, that expanding the definition of persons to be counted in the apportionment of population was merely a detail related to the subject matter of the amendment, changing how senate districts would be formed. The Supreme Court rejected this view, holding:

A change of almost equal importance is that which revokes the provision of art. IV, sec. 3, Const., excluding untaxed Indians and the military from those who are to be counted in determining the

⁴ In the Court of Appeals, Defendants urged that the limitation on drafting a ballot question should be that it is not "so detached from the amendment itself that it falls outside the Legislature's broad constitutional authority." (A-Ct App. Brf. 1, 18). But they have abandoned that definition here. They now point to Minnesota caselaw in search of a definition of "every essential." But that definition for Wisconsin is already found in *Ekern* and *Thomson*.

representation to which a district is entitled, who, though they are not residents in the sense of being eligible to vote, in the case of the military see art. III, sec. 5, Const., are nevertheless to be added by the proposed amendment when a district's representation in the legislature is calculated. We consider that a constitutional change in the individuals to be counted is not a detail of a main purpose to consider area in senate districts but is a separate matter which must be submitted as a separate amendment.

Filed 04-11-2022

264 Wis. at 657.

Case 2020AP002003

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